

1280 Villa Street, Mountain View, CA 94041 (415) 961-3300



Published by INPUT 1280 Villa Street Mountain View, CA 94041-1194 U.S.A.

Market Analysis Program (MAP)

Definition of Terms

Copyright ©1991 by INPUT. All rights reserved. Printed in the United States of America. No part of this publication may be reproduced or distributed in any form or by any means, or stored in a data base or retrieval system, without the prior written permission of the publisher.

MAFC1 • 523 • 1991



Table of Contents

Α.	Introduction	1
В.	Overall Definitions and Analytical Framework	2
	1. Information Services	2
	2. Market Forecasts/User Expenditures	3
	3. Delivery Modes	3
	4. Market Sectors	4
	5. Other	4
C.	Delivery Modes and Submodes	5
	1. Software Products	6
	 a. Systems Software Products 	6
	b. Applications Software Products	7
	2. Turnkey Systems	7
	3. Processing Services	8
	4. Systems Operations	9
	5. Systems Integration	9
	6. Professional Services	11
	7. Network Services	11
	a. Electronic Information Services	11
	b. Network Applications	12
D.	Sector Definitions	13
	1. Industry Sector Definitions	13
	2. Cross-Industry Sector Definitions	17
	3. Delivery Mode Reporting by Sector	19
E.	Vendor Revenue and User Expenditure Conversion	21

i



Exhibits

-1	Information Services Industry Structure—1991	5
-2	Industry Sector Definitions	14
-3	Delivery Mode versus Market Sector-Forecast Content	20
-4	Vendor Revenue to User Expenditure Conversion	22



Definition of Terms

Introduction	INPUT's <i>Definition of Terms</i> provides the framework for all of INPUT's market analyses and forecasts of the information services industry. It is used for all U.S. programs. The structure defined in Exhibit 1 is also used in Europe and for the worldwide forecast.
	One of the strengths of INPUT's market analysis services is the consis- tency of the underlying market sizing and forecast data. Each year INPUT reviews its industry structure and makes changes if they are required. When changes are made they are carefully documented and th new definitions and forecasts reconciled to the prior definitions and forecasts. INPUT clients have the benefit of being able to track market forecast data from year to year against a proven and consistent foundatio of definitions.
	The changes made in INPUT definitions this year are as follows:
	 Systems Operations Submodes - the submodes of systems operations have been redefined from processing services and professional service to platform systems operations and applications systems operations.
	• Business Services Industry - the industry sectors of business services and personal services have been combined into a single business ser- vices sector.
	 Transportation Industry - the information services expenditures relating to airline reservation systems have been returned to the transportation sector where they resided prior to 1990.

1



Overall Definitions	1.
and Analytical Framework	In
	an
	tic

B

1. Information Services

Information Services are computer/telecommunications-related products and services that are oriented toward the development or use of information systems. Information services typically involve one or more of the following:

- Processing of specific applications using vendor-provided systems (called *Processing Services*)
- A combination of hardware, packaged software and associated support services which will meet a specific application processing need (called *Turnkey Systems*)
- Packaged software products, either systems software or applications software products (called Software Products)
- People services that support users in developing and operating their own information systems (called *Professional Services*)
- Bundled combinations of products and services where the vendor assumes total responsibility for the development of a custom solution to an information systems problem (called Systems Integration)
- Services that provide operation and management of all or a significant part of a user's information systems functions under a long-term contract (called Systems Operations)
- Services associated with the delivery of information in electronic form—typically network-oriented services such as value-added networks, electronic mail and document interchange, on-line data bases, on-line news and data feeds, etc. (called Network Services)

In general, the market for information services does not involve providing equipment to users. The exception is where the equipment is bundled as part of an overall service offering such as a tumkey system, a systems operations contract, or a systems integration project.

The information services market also excludes pure data transport services (i.e., data or voice communications circuits). However, where information transport is associated with a network-based service (e.g., EDI or VAN services), or cannot be feasibly separated from other bundled services (e.g., some systems operations contracts), the transport costs are included as part of the services market.

The analytical framework of the information services industry consists of the following interacting factors: overall and industry-specific business environment (trends, events and issues); technology environment; user



information system requirements; size and structure of information services markets; vendors and their products, services and revenues; distribution channels; and competitive issues.

2. Market Forecasts/User Expenditures

All information services market forecasts are estimates of User Expenditures for information services. When questions arise about the proper place to count these expenditures, INPUT addresses them from the user's viewpoint: expenditures are categorized according to what users perceive they are buying.

By focusing on user expenditures, INPUT avoids two problems which are related to the distribution channels for various categories of services:

- Double counting, which can occur by estimating total vendor revenues when there is significant reselling within the industry (e.g., software sales to turnkey vendors for repackaging and resale to end users)
- Missed counting, which can occur when sales to end users go through indirect channels such as mail order retailers

Captive Information Services User Expenditures are expenditures for products and services provided by a vendor that is part of the same parent corporation as the user. These expenditures are not included in INPUT forecasts.

Non-captive Information Services User Expenditures are expenditures that go to vendors that have a different parent corporation than the user. It is these expenditures which constitute the information services market analyzed by INPUT and that are included in INPUT forecasts.

3. Delivery Modes

Delivery Modes are defined as specific products and services that satisfy a given user need. While Market Sectors specify who the buyer is, Delivery Modes specify what the user is buying.

Of the eight delivery modes defined by INPUT, five are considered primary products or services:

- Processing Services
- Network Services
- Professional Services
- Applications Software Products
- Systems Software Products

INPUT



The remaining three delivery modes represent combinations of these products and services, bundled together with equipment, management and/or other services:

- Turnkey Systems
- Systems Operations
- Systems Integration

Section C describes the delivery modes and their structure in more detail.

4. Market Sectors

Market Sectors or markets are groupings or categories of the users who purchase information services. There are three types of user markets:

- Vertical Industry markets, such as Banking, Transportation, Utilities, etc. These are called "industry-specific" markets.
- Functional Application markets, such as Human Resources, Accounting, etc. These are called "cross-industry" markets.
- Other markets, which are neither industry- nor application-specific, such as the market for systems software products and much of the online data base market.

Specific market sectors used by INPUT are defined in Section E, below.

5. Other

Outsourcing is defined as the contracting of information systems functions to outside vendors. Outsourcing should be viewed as the opposite of insourcing: anything that information systems management has considered feasible to do internally (e.g., data center operations, applications development and maintenance, network management, training, etc.) is a potential candidate for outsourcing.

Information systems has always bought systems software, as it is infeasible for companies to develop it internally. However, all other delivery modes represent functions or products that information systems management could choose to perform or develop in-house. Viewed this way, outsourcing is the result of a make-or-buy decision, and the outsourcing market covers any product or service where the vendor must compete against the client firm's own internal resources. Therefore, the entire information services industry can be considered an outsourcing market.

Delivery Modes and Exhibit 1 provides the overall structure of the information services industry as defined and used by INPUT. This section of *Definition of Terms* provides definitions for each of the delivery modes and their submodes or components.

C





DEFINITION OF TERMS

INPUT

MAFC1

© 1991 by INPUT. Reproduction Prohibited

S



1. Software Products

INPUT divides the software products market into two delivery modes: systems software and applications software.

The two delivery modes have many similarities. Both involve user purchases of software packages for in-house computer systems. Included are both lease and purchase expenditures, as well as expenditures for work performed by the vendor to implement or maintain the package at the user's sites. Vendor-provided training or support in operation and use of the package, if bundled in the software pricing, is also included here.

Expenditures for work performed by organizations other than the package vendor are counted in the professional services delivery mode. Fees for work related to education, consulting, and/or custom modification of software products are counted as professional services, provided such fees are charged separately from the price of the software product itself.

a. Systems Software Products

Systems software products enable the computer/communications system to perform basic machine-oriented or user interface functions. INPUT divides systems software products into three submodes.

- Systems Control Products Software programs that function during application program execution to manage computer system resources and control the execution of the application program. These products include operating systems, emulators, network control, library control, windowing, access control, and spoolers.
- Operations Management Tools Software programs used by operations personnel to manage the computer system and/or network resources and personnel more effectively. Included are performance measurement, job accounting, computer operation scheduling, disk management utilities, and capacity management.
- Applications Development Tools Software programs used to prepare applications for execution by assisting in designing, programming, testing, and related functions. Included are traditional programming languages, 4GLs, data dictionaries, data base management systems, report writers, project control systems, CASE systems and other development productivity aids. Also included are system utilities (e.g., sorts) which are directly invoked by an applications program.

INPUT also forecasts the systems software products delivery mode by platform level: mainframe, minicomputer and workstation/PC.



b. Applications Software Products

Applications software products enable a user or group of users to support an operational or administrative process within an organization. Examples include accounts payable, order entry, project management and office systems. INPUT categorizes applications software products into two submodes.

- Industry-Specific Applications Software Products Software products that perform functions related to fulfilling business or organizational needs unique to a specific industry (vertical) market and sold to that market only. Examples include demand deposit accounting, MRPII, medical record keeping, automobile dealer parts inventory, etc.
- Cross-Industry Applications Software Products Software products that perform a specific function that is applicable to a wide range of industry sectors. Examples include payroll and human resource systems, accounting systems, word processing and graphics systems, spreadsheets, etc.

INPUT also forecasts the applications software products delivery mode by platform level: mainframe, minicomputer and workstation/PC.

2. Turnkey Systems

A turnkey system is an integration of equipment (CPU, peripherals, etc.), systems software, and packaged or custom application software into a single product developed to meet a specific set of user requirements. Value added by the turnkey system vendor is primarily in the software and support services provided. Most CAD/CAM systems and many small business systems are turnkey systems. Turnkey systems utilize standard computers and do not include specialized hardware such as word processors, cash registers, process control systems, or embedded computer systems for military applications.

Computer manufacturers (e.g., IBM or DEC) that combine software with their own general-purpose hardware are not classified by INPUT as turnkey vendors. Their software revenues are included in the appropriate software category.

Most turnkey systems are sold through channels known as value-added resellers.

 Value-Added Reseller (VAR): A VAR adds value to computer hardware and/or software and then resells it to an end user. The major value added is usually applications software for a vertical or crossindustry market, but also includes many of the other components of a turnkey systems solution, such as professional services.

7



Turnkey systems have three components:

- · Equipment computer hardware supplied as part of the turnkey system
- Software products prepackaged systems and applications software products
- Professional services services to install or customize the system or train the user, provided as part of the turnkey system sale

3. Processing Services

This delivery mode includes three submodes: transaction processing, utility processing, and "other" processing services.

- Transaction Processing Client uses vendor-provided information systems—including hardware, software and/or data networks—at the vendor site or customer site to process transactions and update client data bases. Transactions may be entered in one of four modes:
 - Interactive Characterized by the interaction of the user with the system for data entry, transaction processing, problem solving and report preparation: the user is on-line to the programs/files stored on the vendor's system.
 - Remote Batch Where the user transmits batches of transaction data to the vendor's system, allowing the vendor to schedule job execution according to overall client priorities and resource requirements.
 - Distributed Services Where users maintain portions of an application data base and enter or process some transaction data at their own site, while also being connected through communications networks to the vendor's central systems for processing other parts of the application.
 - Carry-in Batch Where users physically deliver work to a processing services vendor.
- Utility Processing Vendor provides basic software tools (language compilers, assemblers, DBMSs, graphics packages, mathematical models, scientific library routines, etc.), generic applications programs and/or data bases, enabling clients to develop their own programs or process data on the vendor's system.
- Other Processing Services Vendor provides service—usually at the vendor site—such as scanning and other data entry services, laser printing, computer output microfilm (COM), CD preparation and other data output services, backup and disaster recovery, etc.



4. Systems Operations

Systems operations was a new delivery mode introduced in the 1990 Market Analysis and Systems Operations programs. It was created by taking the Systems Operations submode out of both Processing Services and Professional Services. For 1991 the submodes have been redefined as indicated below.

Systems operations involves the operation and management of all or a significant part of the user's information systems functions under a longterm contract. These services can be provided in either of two distinct submodes where the difference is whether the support of applications, as well as data center operations, is included.

- Platform systems operations the vendor manages and operates the computer systems, often including telecommunications networks, without taking responsibility for the user's application systems.
- Applications systems operations the vendor manages and operates the computer systems, often including telecommunications networks, and is also responsible for maintaining, or developing and maintaining, the user's application systems.

In the federal government market, systems operation services are also defined by equipment ownership with the terms "COCO" (Contractor-Owned, Contractor-Operated), and "GOCO" (Government-Owned, Contractor-Operated).

The ownership of the equipment, which was the previous basis for the systems operations submodes, is no longer considered critical to the commercial market. Most of the market consists of systems operations relationships using vendor-owned hardware. What is now critical is the breadth of the vendor/client relationship as it expands beyond data center management to applications management.

Systems operations vendors now provide a wide variety of services in support of existing information systems. The vendor can plan, control, provide, operate, maintain and manage any or all components of the user's information systems (equipment, networks, systems and/or application software), either at the client's site or the vendor's site. Systems operations can also be referred to as "resource management" or "facilities management."

5. Systems Integration (SI)

Systems integration is a vendor service that provides a complete solution to an information system, networking or automation requirement through the custom selection and implementation of a variety of information



system products and services. A systems integrator is responsible for the overall management of a systems integration contract and is the single point of contact and responsibility to the buyer for the delivery of the specified system function, on schedule and at the contracted price.

To be included in the information services market, systems integration projects must involve some application processing component. In addition, the majority of cost must be associated with information systems products and/or services.

- Equipment information processing and communications equipment required to build the systems solution. This component may include custom as well as off-the-shelf equipment to meet the unique needs of the project. The systems integration equipment category excludes turnkey systems by definition.
- Software products prepackaged applications and systems software products.
- Professional services the value-added component that adapts the equipment and develops, assembles, or modifies the software and hardware to meet the system's requirements. It includes all of the professional services activities required to develop, and if included in the contract, operate an information system, including consulting, program/project management, design and integration, software development, education and training, documentation, and systems operations and maintenance.
- Other services most systems integration contracts include other services and product expenditures that are not easily classified elsewhere. This category includes miscellaneous items such as engineering services, automation equipment, computer supplies, business support services and supplies, and other items required for a smooth development effort.

Systems integrators perform, or manage others who perform, most or all of the following functions:

- Program management, including subcontractor management
- Needs analysis
- Specification development
- Conceptual and detailed systems design and architecture
- System component selection, modification, integration and customization
- Custom software design and development
- Custom hardware design and development
- Systems implementation, including testing, conversion and postimplementation evaluation and tuning

MAFC1



- Life cycle support, including
- · System documentation and user training
- Systems operations during development
- Systems maintenance

6. Professional Services

This category includes three submodes: consulting, education and training, and software development.

- Consulting: Services include management consulting (related to information systems), information systems consulting, feasibility analysis and cost-effectiveness studies, and project management assistance. Services may be related to any aspect of the information system, including equipment, software, networks and systems operations.
- Education and Training: Products and services related to information systems and services for the professional and end user, including computer-aided instruction, computer-based education, and vendor instruction of user personnel in operations, design, programming, and documentation.
- Software Development: Services include user requirements definition, systems design, contract programming, documentation, and implementation of software performed on a custom basis. Conversion and maintenance services are also included.

7. Network Services

Network services typically include a wide variety of network-based functions and operations. Their common thread is that most of these functions could not be performed without network involvement. Network services is divided into two submodes: *Electronic Information Services*, which involve selling information to the user, and *Network Applications*, which involve providing some form of enhanced transport service in support of a user's information processing needs.

a. Electronic Information Services

Electronic information services are data bases that provide specific information via terminal- or computer-based inquiry, including items such as stock prices, legal precedents, economic indicators, periodical literature, medical diagnosis, airline schedules, automobile valuations, etc. The terminals used may be computers themselves, such as communications servers or personal computers. Users typically inquire into and extract information from the data bases. Although users may load extracted data into their own computer systems, the electronic information



vendor provides no data processing or manipulation capability and the users cannot update the vendor's data bases.

The two kinds of electronic information services are:

- On-line Data Bases Structured, primarily numerical data on economic and demographic trends, financial instruments, companies, products, materials, etc.
- News Services Unstructured, primarily textual information on people, companies, events, etc.

While electronic information services have traditionally been delivered via networks, there is a growing trend toward the use of CD ROM optical disks to support or supplant on-line services, and these optical disk-based systems are included in the definition of this delivery mode.

b. Network Applications

Value-Added Network Services (VAN Services) - VAN services are enhanced transport services which involve adding such functions as automatic error detection and correction, protocol conversion, and storeand-forward message switching to the provision of basic network circuits.

While VAN services were originally provided only by specialized VAN carriers (Tymnet, Telenet, etc.), today these services are also offered by traditional common carriers (AT&T, Sprint, etc.). Meanwhile, the VAN carriers have also branched into the traditional common carriers' markets and are offering unenhanced basic network circuits as well.

INPUT's market definition covers VAN services only, but includes the VAN revenues of all types of carriers. The following are examples of VAN services.

- Electronic Data Interchange (EDI) Application-to-application exchange of standardized business documents between trade partners or facilitators. This exchange is commonly performed using VAN services. Specialized translation software is typically employed to convert data from organizations' internal file formats to EDI interchange standards. This software may be provided as part of the VAN service or may be resident on the organization's own computers.
- Electronic Information Exchange (EIE) Also known as electronic mail (E-mail), EIE involves the transmission of messages across an electronic network managed by a services vendor, including facsimile transmission (FAX), voice mail, voice messaging, and access to Telex,



TWX, and other messaging services. This also includes bulletin board services.

 Other Network Services - This segment contains videotex and pure network management services. Videotex is actually more a delivery mode than an application. Its prime focus is on the individual as a consumer or in business. These services provide interactive access to data bases and offer the inquirer the ability to send as well as receive information for such purposes as home shopping, home banking, travel reservations, and more.

Network management services included here must involve the vendor's network and network management systems as well as people. Peopleonly services are included in professional services that involve the management of networks as part of the broader task of managing a user's information processing functions are included in systems operations.

D	
Sector Definitions	1. Industry Sector Definitions
	INPUT has structured the information services market into 15 generic industry sectors, such as process manufacturing, insurance, transportation, etc. The definitions of these sectors are based on the 1987 revision of the Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) Code system. The specific industries (and their SIC Codes) included under these generic industry sectors are detailed in Exhibit 2.



EXHIBIT 2

Industry Sector	SIC Code	Description
Discrete Manufacturing	23xx	Apparel and other finished products
	25xx	Furniture and fixtures
	27xx	Printing, publishing and allied industries
	31xx	Leather and leather products
	34xx	Fabricated metal products, except machinery and transportation equipment
	35xx	Industrial and commercial machinery and computer equipment
	36xx	Electronic and other electrical equipment and components, except computer equipment
	37xx	Transportation equipment
	38xx	Instruments: photo/med/optical goods:
		watches/clocks
	39xx	Miscellaneous manufacturing industry
Process Manufacturing	10xx	Metal mining
	12xx	Coal mining
	13xx	Oil and gas extraction
	14xx	Mining/quarrying nonmetalic minerals
	20xx	Food and kindred products
	21xx	Tobacco products
	22xx	Textile mill products
	24xx	Lumber and wood products, except furniture
	26xx	Paper and allied products
	28xx	Chemicals and allied products
	29xx	Petroleum refining and related industries
	30xx	Rubber and miscellaneous plastic products
	32xx	Stone, clay, glass and concrete products
	33xx	Primary metal industries
Transportation Services	40xx	Railroad transport
	41xx	Public transit/transport
	42xx	Motor freight transport/warehousing
	43xx	U.S. Postal Service
	44xx	Water transportation
	45xx	Air transportation (including airline reservation services in 4512)
	46xx	Pipelines, except natural gas
	47xx	Transportation services (including 472x, arrangement of passenger transportation)



EXHIBIT 2 (CONT.)

Industry Sector	SIC Code	Description
Jtilities	49xx	Electric, gas and sanitary services
elecommunications	48xx	Communications
letail Distribution	52xx 53xx 54xx 55xx	Building materials General merchandise stores Food stores Automotive dealers, gas stations
	56xx 57xx	Apparel and accessory stores Home furniture, furnishings and accessory stores
	58xx 59xx	Eating and drinking places Miscellaneous retail
Vholesale Distribution	50xx 51xx	Wholesale trade - durable goods Wholesale trade - nondurable goods
anking and Finance	60xx 61xx 62xx	Depositary institutions Nondepositary institutions Security and commodity brokers, dealers,
	67xx	Holding and other investment offices
nsurance	63xx 64xx	Insurance carriers Insurance agents, brokers and services
Health Services	80xx	Health services
Education	82xx	Educational services



EXHIBIT 2 (CONT.)

Industry Sector Definitions			
Industry Sector	SIC Code	Description	
Business Services	65xx	Real estate	
	70xx	Hotels, rooming houses, camps, and other	
		lodging places	
	72xx	Personal services	
	73xx	Business services (except hotel reservation services in 7389)	
	7389x	Hotel reservation services	
	75xx	Automotive repair, services and parking	
	76xx	Miscellaneous repair services	
	78xx	Motion pictures	
	79xx	Amusement and recreation services	
	81xx	Legal services	
	83xx	Social services	
	84xx	Museums, art galleries, and	
		botanical/zoological gardens	
	86xx	Membership organizations	
	87xx	Engineering, accounting, research, management	
		and related services	
	89xx	Miscellaneous services	
Federal Government	9xxx		
State and Local	9xxx		
Government			
Miscellaneous Industries	01xx	Agricultural production - crops	
	02xx	Agricultural production - livestock/animals	
	07xx	Agricultural services	
	08xx	Forestry	
	09xx	Fishing, hunting and trapping	
	15xx	Building construction - general contractors, operative builders	
	16xx	Heavy construction - contractors	
	17xx	Construction - special trade contractors	

16



2. Cross-Industry Sector Definitions

In addition to these vertical industry sectors, INPUT has identified seven cross-industry or horizontal market sectors. These sectors or markets involve multi-industry applications such as human resource systems, accounting systems, etc. In order to be included in an industry sector, the service or product delivered must be specific to that sector only. If a service or product is used in more than one industry sector, it is counted as cross-industry. The seven cross-industry markets are:

Accounting - consists of applications software products and information services that serve such functions as:

- General ledger
- Accounts payable
- Accounts receivable
- Billing/invoicing
- Fixed assets
- International accounting
- Purchasing
- Taxation
- Financial consolidation
- Excluded are accounting products and services directed to a specific industry, such as tax processing services for CPAs and accountants within the business services industry sector.

Human Resources - consists of application solutions purchased by multiple industry sectors to serve the functions of human resources management and payroll. Examples of specific applications within these two major functions are:

- Employee relations
- Benefits administration
- Government compliance
- Manpower planning
- Compensation administration
- Applicant tracking
- Position control
- Payroll processing

Education and Training - consists of education and training for information systems professionals and users of information systems, as well as the use of computer-based training tools for the training of any employee on any subject.



- The education and training cross-industry sector only considers education and training offered for a noncaptive market; in other words, this sector does not include educational services provided by information services vendors to their customers for training on their own products.
- Education and training that is provided in a classroom setting, live, is not included in this cross-industry sector. This sector is not to be confused with the education industry-specific sector, the subject of another MAP report, which addresses primary and secondary education as a vertical market for IS services.

Office Systems consists of the following:

- Integrated office systems (IOS)
- Word processing
- Desktop publishing
- Graphics
- IOSs—such as IBM's Office Vision, HP's NewWave Office and DEC's All-In-1—typically include the following core functions, all of which are accessed from the same desktop: electronic mail, decision support systems, time management and filing systems.
- Office systems graphics include presentation graphics (which represent the bulk of office systems graphics), paint and line art, page description languages, and electronic form programs.

Engineering and Scientific encompasses the following applications:

- Computer-aided design and engineering (CAD and CAE)
- Structural analysis
- Statistics/mathematics/operations research
- Mapping
- Computer-aided manufacturing (CAM) or CAD that is integrated with CAM is excluded from the cross-industry sector as it is specific to the manufacturing industries. CAD or CAE that is dedicated to integrated circuit design is also excluded because it is specific to the semiconductor industry.

Planning and Analysis consists of software products and information services in four application areas:

- Executive Information Systems (EIS)
- Financial modeling or planning systems
- Spreadsheets
- Project management



Other encompasses marketing/sales and electronic publishing application solutions.

- · Sales and marketing includes:
 - Sales analysis
 - Marketing management
 - Demographic market planning models
- The fundamental difference between electronic publishing and desktop publishing (within the office systems sector) is that electronic publishing encompasses a method of document management and control from a single point—regardless of how many authors/locations work on a document—whereas desktop publishing is a personal productivity tool and is generally a lower end product residing on a personal computer.
- Electronic or computer publishing systems that are sold strictly and specifically to commercial publishers, printers, and typesetters are excluded from cross-industry consideration and are included in the discrete manufacturing industry.

3. Delivery Mode Reporting by Sector

This section describes how the delivery mode forecasts relate to the market sector forecasts. Exhibit 3 summarizes the relationships.

- Processing services the transaction processing services submode is forecasted for each industry and cross-industry market sector. The utility and other processing services submodes are not considered industry or cross-industry specific and are only forecasted for the total market.
- Turnkey systems all of the turnkey systems delivery mode is considered either industry or cross-industry specific and is forecasted for the 15 industry and 7 cross-industry sectors. Each component of turnkey systems (equipment, software products and professional services) is forecasted by market sector.
- Applications software products all of the applications software
 products delivery mode is considered either industry or cross-industry
 specific and is forecasted for the 15 industry and 7 cross-industry
 sectors. In addition, each forecast is broken down by platform level:
 mainframe, minicomputer and workstation/PC.
- Systems operations all of systems operations is considered industry specific. Each of the submodes (platform and applications systems operations) is forecasted for each of the 15 industry sectors.



EXHIBIT 3

		Market Sectors		
Delivery Mode	Submode	Industry Sectors	Cross-Industry Sectors	Other
Processing Services	Transaction Utility Other	x	x	x x
Turnkey Systems		х	х	
Applications Software Products		x	х	
Systems Operations	Platform Applications	xx		
Systems Integration		Х		
Professional Services		Х		
Network Services	Network Applications Electronic Information Services	X X		x
Systems Software Products				х

- Systems integration all of systems integration is considered industry specific. Each of the components of systems integration (equipment, software products, professional services and other services) is forecasted for each of the 15 industry sectors.
- Professional services all of professional services is considered industry specific. Each of the submodes (consulting, education and training, and software development) is forecasted for each of the 15 industry sectors.
- Network services all of the network applications submode of network services is considered industry specific and is forecasted for each of the 15 industry sectors. The electronic information services submode is considered to have both industry-specific and non-specific elements.



	The forecast for electronic information systems includes forecasts for the 15 industry sectors as well as an additional forecast component that applies to the market as a whole.				
	 Systems software products - All of the submodes (systems control, operations management, applications development) are considered neither industry- nor cross-industry specific. They are only forecasted in total. In addition, each submode forecast is broken down by plat- form level: mainframe, minicomputer and workstation/PC. 				
E					
Vendor Revenue and User Expenditure Conversion	The size of the information services market may be viewed from two perspectives: vendor (producer) revenues and user expenditures. While the primary data for INPUT's research is vendor interviews, INPUT defines and forecasts the information services market in terms of end-user expenditures. End-user expenditures reflect the markup in producer sales when a product such as software is delivered through indirect distribution channels (such as original equipment manufacturers (OEMs), retailers and distributors). The focus on end-user expenditure also eliminates the double counting of revenues that would occur if sales were tabulated for both producer (e.g., Lotus) and distributor (e.g., BusinessLand).				
	For most delivery modes, vendor revenues and user expenditures are fairly close. However, there are some areas of significant difference. Many microcomputer software products, for example, are marketed through indirect distribution channels. To capture the valued added through these indirect distribution channels, adjustment factors that incorporate industry discount ratios are used to convert estimated infor- mation services vendor revenues to end-user expenditures.				
	For some delivery modes, including software products, systems integra- tion and turnkey systems, there is a significant volume of intra-industry sales. For example, systems integrators purchase software and subcon- tract the services of other professional services vendors. And turnkey vendors incorporate purchased software into the systems they sell to end users.				
	To account for such intra-industry transactions, INPUT uses other con- version ratios to derive the estimate of end-user expenditures.				
	Exhibit 4 summarizes the net effect of the various ratios used by INPUT to convert vendor revenues to end-user expenditure (market size) figures for each delivery mode.				

21



EXHIBIT 4

Vendor Revenue to User Expenditure Conversion

Delivery Mode	Vendor Revenue Multiplier
Applications Software Products	1.18
Systems Software Products	1.10
Systems Operations	1.00
Systems Integration	0.99
Professional Services	0.99
Network Services	0.99
Processing Services	0.99
Turnkey Systems	0.95



About INPUT

INPUT provides planning information, analysis, and recommendations for the information technology industries. Through market research, technology forecasting, and competitive analysis, INPUT supports client management in making informed decisions.

Subscription services, proprietary research/consulting, merger/acquisition assistance, and multiclient studies are provided to users and vendors of information systems and services. INPUT specializes in the software and services industry which includes software products, systems operations, processing services, network services, systems integration, professional services, turnkey systems, and customer services. Particular areas of expertise include CASE analysis, information systems planning, and outsourcing.

Many of INPUT's professional staff members have more than 20 years' experience in their areas of specialization. Most have held senior management positions in operations, marketing, or planning. This expertise enables INPUT to supply practical solutions to complex business problems.

Formed as a privately held corporation in 1974, INPUT has become a leading international research and consulting firm. Clients include more than 100 of the world's largest and most technically advanced companies.

North America

San Francisco 1280 Villa Street Mountain View, CA 94041-1194 Tel. (415) 961-3300 Fax (415) 961-3966

New York Atrium at Glenpointe 400 Frank W. Burr Blvd. Teaneck, NJ 07666 Tel. (201) 801-0050 Fax (201) 801-0441

Washington, D.C. INPUT, INC. 1953 Gallows Road, Suite 560 Vienna, VA 22182 Tel. (703) 847-6870 Fax (703) 847-6872 International

INPUT OFFICES

London INPUT LTD. Piccadilly House 33/37 Regent Street London SW1Y 4NF, England Tel. (071) 493-9335 Fax (071) 629-0179

Paris INPUT SARL 24, avenue du Recteur Poincaré 75016 Paris, France Tel. (33-1) 46 47 65 65 Fax (33-1) 46 47 69 50

Frankfurt INPUT LTD. Sudetenstrasse 9 D-6306 Langgöns-Niederkleen, Germany Tel. (0) 6447-7229 Fax (0) 6447-7327

Tokyo INPUT KK Saida Building, 4-6 Kanda Sakuma-cho, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 101, Japan Tel. (03) 3864-0531 Fax (03) 3864-4114

